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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 15-cv-61467-BLOOM/Valle
EDUARDO PAGAZANI,
Plaintiff,
V.

EQUIFAX INFORMATION
SERVICES, LLC/!

Defendant.

ORDER

THIS CAUSE is before the Court upon Defendant Equifax Information Services, LLC’s
(“Defendant” or “Equifax”) Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF 8] (the “Motion”), filed
on March 28, 2016. The Courtshaarefully reviewed the Mion, the supporting and opposing
submissions, including Plaintiff's RespondeCF No. [42] (“Response”), and Defendant’s
Reply, ECF No. [43] (“Reply”), the record, artde applicable law, and is otherwise fully
advised. For the following reasons, Defendaktition for Summary Jigment is granted.

I. Background

Plaintiff Eduardo Pagazani (“Plaintiff”) filed the instaaction on July 17, 2015, against
Equifax and Bank of America, N.A. (“BOA”), seeking damages for alleged violations of the Fair
Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1684, seq.(the “FCRA”). ECF No[1] (the “Complaint”).
BOA was terminated from this action on Redmy 17, 2016, upon the Court’s grant of summary
judgment in its favor.SeeECF No. [29]. Equifax now reqaes summary judgment in its favor

on these FCRA claims.

! Plaintiff originally filed this action againgtoth Equifax Information Services, LLC, and Bank of
America, N.A.
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Equifax is a consumer reporting agency (“CIRRAs defined by the FCRA. As a CRA,
Equifax maintains credit files for millions of consumers, including Plain8#eECF No. [39-2]
(Declaration of Pamela Smith (“Smith Aff.”)) fl. Upon receipt of a dispute from a consumer
regarding the accuracy of information in the consumer’s credit file, Equifax represents that its
policy is to review and considénformation provided by the coasier regarding the nature of
the dispute, as well as the conteoitshe consumer’s credit fileSSeeECF No. [39] (Defendant’s
Statement of Facts (“D SOF”)) 1 83If, upon review of the disputnd the file, Equifax is able
to make updates, it will undertake those updatés.  34. |If further imestigation of the
consumer’s dispute is required, Equifax notifies source of the information and advises it of
the consumer’s dispute, descshal relevant information, angrovides the consumer’s account
information as it then appeairs the consumer’s credit fileld. § 35;see alsoECF No. [41]
(Plaintiff's Responsive Statement of Facts (“PF3D Y 35 (“35. Undisputed.”). In conjunction
with this notification, Equifax asks the data furnisher to investigate the consumer’s dispute and
to advise as to the accuracytbé underlying account informatiomd. § 21.

Communications between Equifax and the dataisher are generally made through a
process wherein Equifax electronically transnaitorm called an Automated Consumer Dispute
Verification (“ACDV”) to the data furnisherD SOF { 37. Equifax represents that the ACDV
process is an industry standard used by alktlofethe nationwide consumer reporting agencies
(Equifax, Experian, and Trans Union)ld. According to the Motion, it allows consumer
reporting agencies to communicate with dataifimers through use of an array of pre-defined
codes and narrative phrased. { 38. When a data furnisheceives an ACD\rom Equifax, it

is required, both by its contraaith Equifax and by the FCRAQ conduct its own investigation

2 The Court cites frequently to Defendant’'s StatermaiFacts, because it is largely undisputed by
Plaintiff, with some exceptions.
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and to report the results to Equifax in a timely manrdr.q 40. If the data furnisher advises
Equifax to delete or otherwasupdate the account informaticthen Equifax, per its internal
procedures, takes the necessary actionnatifles the consumer of the resultsl. § 41. If the
data furnisher states that it has investigatedittm but has no changésquifax will generally,

but not always, make no ahges to the credit fileld. § 423 Following the completion of its
reinvestigation, Equifax’s procedure involves sagdthe consumer a letter (or an e-mail, if
requested by the consumer) containing the reinyation results, along with a summary of the
consumer’s rights under the FCRA, including tlghtito add a consumer statement to the credit
file if the consumer digaees with the resultdd.  44.

Equifax submits that it followed these reasdaakinvestigation procedures with respect
to Plaintiff's disputes.See idf{ 24-35. As a result, the Motioortends, it is not liable in this
action as a matter of law. Plafhdoes not disagree — instead, d&rgues that conformance with
reasonable reinvestigation procedures is besltepoint. Pagazani avers that, whether or not
Equifax properly followed its own procedurds produced a consumeeport that, although
technically accurate, is materialiyisleading as to render it inaccurate. He submits that this
amounts to a willful vaelation of the FCRA.

II. Material Facts

Relevant to the instant controversy, Yorydegazani, Plaintiff's spouse, opened a BOA
MasterCard, account number 99gthe “Account”), on Januar{l, 2008, and listed Plaintiff as
an authorized signer on the accourfee ECF No. [22-1] (Declaration of Kevin Williams

(“William Aff.")) 1 4; seeECF No. [41-1] (Affidavit of Eluardo Pagazani (“Pagazani Aff.”)) 1

% According to its Statement of Facts, Equifax rteiims policies and procedures that allow its dispute
handlers, under some circumstances, to makagesato the credit file not recommended by the data
furnisher. Id. T 43.
* Plaintiff's full account numbers haween redacted farecurity purposes.
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2). The Account was charged off as asldo BOA on January 31, 2012, in the amount of
$8,211.72, following Yoryeris Pagazani’'s failure to make minimum monthly payments, as
required under the AgreentenWilliam Aff. § 7; seeD SOF { 13. On March 25, 2013, the
Account was sold to a company called Portfolio Recovery Associdtes] 8. Eventually,
Yoryeris Pagazani filed for bankruptcy, ane tteebt on the BOA Account was discharg&ke
ECF No. [31-3] (bankruptcy couarder discharging debt). Neteeless, the bankruptcy matter
has no bearing on the relief sought here.

On August 11, 2014, Plaintiff disputed in vimg, the information that BOA reported to
Equifax regarding the AccountSeeECF No. [23] at 10 (March 31, 2014 merged consumer
report), and 12 (August 11, 2014 letter); Compl. | Phaintiff’s letter read as follows: “Said
listing falsely represents th#te amount set forth above wasaohed off as a bad debt and
placed for collection and skip. Eduardo Pagazsmmerely an ‘Authorized Signer’ for the
above-mentioned account. The account is nstamd should not be reflected on his credit
report.” Id. at 12. Equifax responded to RPIif's correspondence on August 21, 2014,
requesting personal identificati documents from Pagazamd. at 21.

Plaintiff did not respond untiMarch 30, 2015 with the requesdtinformation. In this
second letter, he again disputed the Accounigsoperly reflected on his credit repoid. at
24 (reading almost verbatim to the August 21, 2014rettin response tihis letter, on April 8,
2015, Equifax sent BOA an ACDV requesting titat[p]rovide or confrm complete ID and
account information.” Williams Aff. 9. Thiorrespondence indicated that Pagazani believed
that the subject Account, as reflected on his credit reportesstaaccurate information.’ld.

The ACDV further indicated thalaintiff “[d]isputes present/pwgous Account status/Payment
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History Profile/Payment Rating.ld. The March 30, 2015, letter wattached to the ACDY.
See id. Pagazani Aff. 7. The ACDV indicatecattBOA was reporting the BOA Account with
an Equal Credit Opportunity ActEECOA”) code of 3 as to Plaifiti Williams Decl.  12. Itis
undisputed that ECOA code of 3 equates tdhanzed user, not obligowith respect to an
account recordld.

On April 27, 2015, BOA responded to Equifak. first requested anodification to the
Account, to include th narrative “credit cak” along with the other narratives “account
transferred or sold” and “charged off accountD SOF § 54. BOA also updated the “date
closed” to January 2012 andetlactual payment” to $60.d. However, it did not seek to
change the ECOA code of 3 on the Accould.  55. As a result, per BOA’s advisement, the
Account continued to ag@ar on Plaintiff's Equifax file withithis code equating to authorized
user. Id. On April 28, 2015, Equifax prvided Plaintiff the resultsf its reinvestigation.ld.

56. Equifax received no additional corresponddrara Plaintiff regardng the BOA Account or
otherwise.lId. 1 57.

As a result of Equifax’s failure to remowbe BOA Account from his credit report,
Pagazani alleges that he was denied crdifanuary 1, 2008, for a SunTrust business credit
card. ECF No. [39-1] (excerpts of Pagazarpadgtion transcript (“Pagazani Depo.”)) at 27:5-
19, 40:13-18; D SOF 11 16-17. He atdaims that he was providedth less favoable terms in
his lease of a Mercedes-Benz vehicle. Paga2apo. at 46:25-47:8 (“I didn't get premier, |
guess, rate, so | got a higher netg.”). The instant suit seeks compensation for these alleged

damages.

®> Neither the April 8 ACDV, nor the March 30, 2015, letter attached thereto, made any mention of
Yoryeris Pagazani's bankruptcy, and Plaintiff did not dispute the reporting of the Account on the basis of
his wife’s obligation having been dischargadiilliams Decl. § 11; Pagazani Aff. ] 7.

5



Case No. 15-cv-61467-BLOOM/Valle

II1.Legal Standard

A party may obtain summary judgment “if the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material famtd the movant is entitled to jutignt as a matter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). The parties may suppoeirtipositions by citation to the record, includinger
alia, depositions, documents, affidavits, or dedlars. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). An issue is
genuine if “a reasonable triesf fact could return judgnm for the non-moving party.”
Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Fla. v. United Stateks F. 3d 1235, 1243 (11th Cir. 2008)
(quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ina177 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986)A fact is maerial if it
“might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law. (quotingAnderson477 U.S.
at 247-48). The Court views the facts in tlghtimost favorable to the non-moving party and
draws all reasonable inferences in the party’s fa®ee Davis v. Williamsi51 F.3d 759, 763
(11th Cir. 2006). “The mere sstence of a scintilla of evehce in support of the [non-moving
party’s] position will be insufficient; there mube evidence on which a jury could reasonably
find for the [non-moving party].”Anderson477 U.S. at 252. Further, the Court does not weigh
conflicting evidence. See Skop v. City of Atlanta, G485 F.3d 1130, 1140 (11th Cir. 2007)
(quotingCarlin Comm’n, Inc. v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. C802 F.2d 1352, 1356 (11th Cir. 1986)).

The moving party shouldersehnitial burden of showing ¢habsence of a genuine issue
of material fact. Shiver v. Chertoff549 F.3d 1342, 1343 (11th CR008). Once this burden is
satisfied, “the nonmoving party ‘must do more tisanply show that theris some metaphysical
doubt as to the material facts.Ray v. Equifax Info. Servs., L.L,B27 F. App’x 819, 825 (11th
Cir. 2009) (quotingviatsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Cotfg5 U.S. 574, 586
(1986)). Instead, “the non-moving party ‘riusake a sufficient showing on each essential

element of the case for which he has the burden of prolf. {quotingCelotex Corp. v. Catrett
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477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986)). Accordingly, thenamoving party must produce evidence, going
beyond the pleadings, and by its own affidavits, or by depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, designatingesific facts to suggest thatreasonable jury could find in
the non-moving party’s favorShiver 549 F.3d at 1343. But, evavhere an opposing party
neglects to submit any alleged material factsantwversy, the court mustill be satisfied that
all the evidence on the record supports theootroverted material fastthat the movant has
proposed before granting summary judgmeReese v. Herberb627 F.3d 1253, 1268-69, 1272
(11th Cir. 2008);United States v. One Piece of Real Prop. Located at 5800 S.W. 74th Ave.,
Miami, Fla, 363 F.3d 1099, 1103 n. 6 (11th Cir. 2004).

I'V. Discussion

Defendant maintains that tlaecuracy of its reporting dhe BOA Account precludes a
finding of liability under the FCRA as a matter of [&wPagazani does not dispute the accuracy
of the reporting. Instead, his argument boils dowart@ssertion that, regardless of any results
deriving from reasonable reinvestigation gedures, Equifax should have removed the BOA
Account from Pagazani’s creditpert per his written requests.

This controversy involves winterwoven sections of the FCRA, §§ 1681e(b) and’i(a).
Section 1681e(b) provides as follows: “Whese a consumer reporting agency prepares a

consumer report it shall follow reasonable gahares to assure maximum possible accuracy of

® Equifax further argues that Plaintiff has failedessiablish that any damages suffered were proximately
caused by the CRA. Moreover, the Motion highlights Itk of evidence in this case supporting alleged
damages.See generallfPagazani Depo. Although these arguments have merit, they are not reached until
or unless Plaintiff establishes a statutory violation.
" Pagazani also claims that Equifax’s violatiosisthe FCRA were willful, as governed by section
1681n(a)(2) of the FCRA. That provision permitsaavard of statutory and punitive damages if a CRA
“willfully fails to comply with any requirement” impsed by the Act. 15 U.S.C. 8 1681n(a)(2). Willful
misconduct under the FCRA encompasses both intentional and reckless violations of tBeda®afeco
Ins. Co. of Am. v. Buyis51 U.S. 47, 68-69 (2007). The Court need not address this argument further as it
concludes that Equifax did not violate the FCRA under these facts.

7
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the information concerning the individual aboutomhthe report relates.15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b);
seeRay v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLB27 F. App’x 819, 827 (11th Cir. 2009) (citi@phlin v.

Gen. Motors Acceptance Coy®36 F.2d 1151, 1156, 1161 (11Ghr. 1991)) (stating that a

prima faciecase for violation of section 1681e(b) requiagglaintiff to plausibf allege that “(1)

a credit reporting agency’s report was inaccurate; and (2) that the inaccurate report was a causal
factor in the denial of hisredit application”). The FCRA further requires that:

[I]f the completeness or accuracy afiyaitem of information contained in a

consumer’s file at a consumer reportimgency is disputed by the consumer and

the consumer notifies the aggndirectly, or indirectly through a reseller, of such

dispute, the agency shall, free of a®rconduct a reasoriabinvestigation to

determine whether the disputed information is inaccurate and record the current

status of the disputed information,d®lete the item from the file . . . .

15 U.S.C. 8§ 1681li(a)(1)(AkeeLibrizzi v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LL.@20 F. Supp. 3d 1368,
1375 (S.D. Fla. 2015). “[T]he duty to reponhdiccuracies’ under § 1681s-2(b) of the FCRA
includes a duty to report information that may'teehnically accurate’ but is ‘presented in such
a way that it creates a misleadingomassion’ in a material sense.Bauer v. Target Corp-- F.
Supp. 2d --, 2012 WL 4054296, at *3 (M.Bla. Sept. 14, 2012) (citinaunders v. Branch
Banking & Trust Cq.526 F.3d 142, 148 (4th Cir. 2008)).

Plaintiff does not dispute that Equifax’gpoeting was accurate; nor does he dispute that
Equifax conducted a reasonablenwestigation, as required bsection 1681li(a). Rather, he
makes a general argument that Equifax’s repgrtjwa]s insufficient ad misleading to convey
Plaintiff's obligation on the related debt” — &8 to render it inaccurate — and, as such, has
“caused actual harm to his ability to obtain d@rexhd to his reputation.” Resp. at 1-2. “To
determine whether a consumer has identified aidhahaccuracy on his or her credit report that
would activate § 1681i's reinvegation requirement, the detve inquiry is whether the

defendant could have uncovered the inaccuradyh&d reasonably reinvestigated the matter.”

8
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DeAndrade vTrans Union LLC 523 F.3d 61, 68 (1st Cir. 2008) (holding that CRA was not
required to resolve dispute where plaintiffnatted obtaining loan, but challenged loan’s
validity) (quoting Cushman v. Trans Union Corp920 F. Supp. 80, 83 (E.D. Pa. 1996))
(alterations adopted).

To understand that test, the Court fifdahlin, 936 F.2d at 1160, instructive. In that
case, the plaintiff claimed that a CRA errondpusischaracterized the charge off and later
settlement of the subject debt as a negative credit ev@n{:That is, he argues that he should
have been given a clean slate on his credit regdtet he settled the debt with GMAC's [the
defendant bank’s] collection att@y.”). Ultimately, the EleventiCircuit affirmed the district
court’s granting of summary judgmeio the CRA, reasoning as follows:

A consumer, however, cannot bring a [FARlaim against a credit reporting

agency when it exercises its indepemdprofessional judgment, based on full

information, as to how a patilar account should breported on a credit report.

In this case, CBI initially reported that the GMAC account was a charged off

account with an outstanding balancedaeventually acceded to GMAC's

directives that Cahlin’saount be rehabilitated towvaid litigation. No reasonable
investigation on the part of CBI couldyeuncovered any inaccuracy in Cahlin’s

report because there was never any factual deficiency in the report.

Id. In other words, a CRA is not obligated tgoet information about a disputed item simply
because the consumer asserts a legal defense. Indeed, “the very economic purpose for credit
reporting companies would be sigodéntly vitiated if they shadedvery credit history in their

files in the best possiblght for the consumer.’ld. at 1158.

Here, as inCahlin, there is no dispute that thecéount was accurately reflected on
Pagazani’'s credit report. Instead, Pagazamickst the underlying legal issue of whether an
account for which an individual is only an authorized usepraperly associated with that
individual’'s credit history — or, converselyyhether including that information “creates a

misleading impression in a material sens&auer, 2012 WL 4054296, at *3. “This is not a

9
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factual inaccuracy that could Y& been uncovered by a reasonaklavestigation, but rather a
legal issue [implicating applicable banking andnoeerce laws] that a credit agency such as
[Equifax] is neither qualified nor oblaged to resolvender the FCRA."DeAndrade 523 F.3d at
68. “Because CRAs are ill equipped to adjudicaterachfor other legal] disputes, courts have
been loath to allow consumers to mount collatatelcks on the legal valtgt of their debts in
the guise of FCRA reinvestigation claimarvalho v. Equifax Info. Servs., L1629 F.3d 876,
891 (9th Cir. 2010).

The Court is, of course, mindful of “thegislative purpose of the FCRA to serve, in
significant part, as a comsher-protection tool.” Rapapport v. Green Tree Servicing, LLo.
13-61624-CV, 2013 WL 5728731, at *5 (S.Bla. Oct. 22, 2013) (citinyang v. Government
Employees Ins. Co146 F.3d 1320, 1322 (11th Cir. 1998) (“The FCRA seeks to promote the
credit reporting industry’s respabk dissemination of accuratnd relevant information.”).
The instant dispute as presented, neverthelbsss not implicate the “improvement of the
accuracy of consumer records and the dffitiresolution of consumer disputes.d.
Furthermore, alternative remedies were availabllamtiff. First, the FCRA allows consumers
who are dissatisfied by a reinvestigpn to file a brief explanatgrstatement to be reported along
with the disputed item.See Mangio v. Equifax, Inc887 F. Supp. 283, 284 (S.D. Fla. 1995)
(quoting 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(b)-(c)). “In this wayptential creditors haveoth sides of the story
and can reach an independent determinatiomas? to treat a specific, disputed account.”
Cahlin, 936 F.2d at 1160 n. 23. Second, Pagazanddoave gone to the source of the credit
information, BOA, to attempt to resolve thepmlise. The parties haweven stipulated on the
record that “the data furnisher is typically irethest position to investigate a dispute, as it has

the records and direct relationship witie consumer.” D SOF { 36; P SOF { B&ul v.

10
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Experian Info. Solutions793 F. Supp. 2d 1098, 1103 (D. Minn. 2DX*With respect to the
accuracy of disputed information, the CRA is adlparty, lacking any direct relationship with
the consumer.”) (quotations omitte@arvalhg 629 F.3d at 892 (“Carvalho complains that such
an explanatory statement cannot obliterate the sthia derogatory item on her credit report.
While this may be true, it merely reinforcesr alew that a consumer who disputes the legal
validity of an obligation should do stirectly at the furnisher lele If successful, the consumer
can clear her credit report without the need for explanatory statements. That Carvalho failed
to do so is no fault of the CRAs.”). Certainllge Account that Pagazani disputes is with BOA —
not Equifax.

The evidence demonstrates that Pagazani sought no further relief beyond the two letters
he sent to Defendant, on August 11, 2014, andacM&0, 2015 — from Equikaor otherwise.
Moreover, the significant length of time betwebase two letters was thesult of his own lack
of diligence in failing to respond to Equifax’squest for personal identification documents for
more than seven months. Because of Plaintf€ky, Equifax was unabte send an ACDV to
BOA until April 8, 2015, shortly after Pagazani&cond letter. Once BOA responded to
Equifax on April 27, 2015, Defendant made the reqeeshanges, as detailed above, and sent
Plaintiff the results of its reinvestigation oretlvery next day. Pursuant to the information
provided by BOA, the reinvestjon did not counsel Defendatat remove the Account record
from Pagazani’s credit report.

The parties agree as to thisies of events — they only disagree as to their meaning under
the law. To the extent thatdmtiff mounts an attack againgte standard industry process and
procedures used by consumer reporting eig@sn nationwide — which allow CRAs to

communicate with data furnistethrough use of pre-defineddes and narrative phrasas, |

11
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38 — that argument must failPlaintiff seeks to hold Equifakable in this instance, not for
failing to comply with reasonablstandards, but, for expresdbllowing them. This notion
conflicts with the plain language of the FCRwhich instructs a CRA to “follow reasonable
procedures to assure maximum possible accunadlie information concerning the individual
about whom the report relatesl’5 U.S.C. § 1681e(b). Likewistihe Court declines to conclude
that conformance with the FCRA in this caseated a materially mishding impression of the
Account debt. SeeResp. at 1-2. To hold otherwise wadllow claims thatwvrongly confuse
consumer dissatisfactiomith unfair reporting.
Ultimately, Equifax could not have resolve@gazani’'s legal dispute with BOA through
a reasonable reinvestigation, purduemsections 1681e(b) and i(abee, e.g.Carvalhg 629
F.3d at 892 (finding that district court properly granted summary judgment to CRAs because
plaintiff failed to demonstrate that reporting wasamrect or materially misleading). This is the
only pertinent inquiry at thistage. Accordingly, Plaintiff FCRA claims cannot survive
Defendant’s Motion.
V. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, it@RDERED AND ADJUDGED that Defendant’'s Motion
for Summary JudgmenECF No. [38], isGRANTED as follows:
1. Summary judgment is enterdd favor of Defendant Equifax Information
Services, LLC.
2. The Clerk isDIRECTED TO CLOSE this case.
3. Any pending motions areENIED ASMOOT.

4. All pending deadlines arfEERMINATED.
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DONE AND ORDERED in Miami, Florida,this 24th day of May, 2016.

BETH BLOOM
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
Copied to: Counsel of record
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